


positive, drug testing and treatment; surrender all travel documents and 
do not make application for new travel documents; travel restricted to the 
Southern and Eastern Districts of New York; and seek and/or maintain 
verifiable employment. 
 
On June 29, 2019, Your Honor extended the defendant’s travel 
restrictions to include the District of New Jersey. 
 

Detainers: 
 

None. 

Codefendants: 
 

None. 

Related Cases: 
 

) 
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PART A. THE OFFENSE 

Charges(s) and Conviction(s) 

1. Indictment 19 CR 59 (PKC) was filed in the Southern District of New York on January 28, 
2019. 

2. Count 1 charges from 2010 up to 2014, in the Southern District of New York and 
elsewhere,  and others conspired to commit securities fraud, in violation 15 
U.S.C §§  78j(b) & 78ff, and 17 C.F.R § 240.l0b-5, and wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 1343. 

(18 U.S.C § 371) 

3. Count 2 charges from 2010 up to 2014, in the Southern District of New York and 
elsewhere, made false representations to investors, including through fraudulent 
altered documents, that investments made through funds controlled by  were 
accumulating capital gains, whereas in truth and in fact the investment of those 
investors’ funds had either not taken place or had actually resulted in substantial losses. 

(15 U.S.C §§ 78j(b) & 78ff, and 17 C.F.R § 240.l0b-5) 

4. Count 3 charges from 2010 up to 2014, in the Southern District of New York and 
elsewhere, , through emails sent by Individual-1 from New York, New York, to 
Europe, among other locations, made and caused to be made false representations to 
investors, including through fraudulently altered documents, that investments made 
through funds controlled by  were accumulating capital gains, whereas in truth 
and in fact the investment of those investors’ funds had either not taken place or had 
actually resulted in substantial losses. 

(18 U.S.C § 1343) 

5. Count 4 charges that on January 26, 2018, in the Southern District of New York and 
elsewhere,  provided false sworn testimony in an official proceeding before the 
Securities and Exchange Commission regarding his involvement in the creation of false 
documents and the making of false representations to investors who invested in funds 
controlled by  and Individual-1. 

(18 U.S.C § 1512(c)) 

Forfeiture Allegation 
 
6. As a result of committing the offenses alleged in Counts 1 through 4 of this Indictment, 

 forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981, 21 U.S.C. § 853, and 
28 U.S.C. § 2461, all property constituting or derived from the proceeds of the offense. 

(18 U.S.C. § 981, 21 U.S.C. § 853, and 28 U.S.C. § 2461) 
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18.  was arrested on September 18, 2018, and was arrested on January 29, 
2019. 

Victim Impact 

19. According to the Government, Investor-1 lost $20 million in fraudulently induced funds 
($30 million in total), and Investor-2 was repaid and did not suffer a loss.  Contact 
information for both victims was not received. 

Adjustment for Obstruction of Justice 

20. Because the defendant pled guilty to Obstruction of Justice, an adjustment will not be 
applied. 

Adjustment for Acceptance of Responsibility 

21. The defendant was interviewed via telephone.  Counsel was also present on the call and 
informed that his client would rely on his plea allocution and would not make any 
additional statements about his involvement in the instant offense.   

22. The Probation Office reviewed the defendant’s plea transcript.  Based on the defendant’s 
plea of guilty and admission of guilt therein, it appears that an adjustment for Acceptance 
of Responsibility applies under USSG § 3E1.1.   

Offense Level Computation 

23. The November 1, 2018, Guidelines Manual, incorporating all guideline amendments, was 
used to determine the defendant's offense level. USSG §1B1.11. 

Count 4: Obstruction of Justice 

24. Base Offense Level: The guideline for a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c) is USSG 
§2J1.2. The base offense level is 14. USSG §2J1.2(a). 14 

25. Specific Offense Characteristics:  None. 0 

26. Victim Related Adjustment: None. 0 

27. Adjustment for Role in the Offense: None. 0 

28. Adjustment for Obstruction of Justice: None. 0 

29. Adjusted Offense Level (Subtotal): 14 

30. Chapter Four Enhancement: None. 0 

31. Acceptance of Responsibility: The defendant has clearly demonstrated acceptance 
of responsibility for the offense. Accordingly, the offense level is decreased by two 
levels. USSG §3E1.1(a). -2 

Case  153   Filed 12/30/20   Page 7 of 22







 9                 

inspection of this residence was conducted on November 17, 2020.  This single-family 
home is situated in a residential neighborhood and consists of two floors, a finished 
basement and a two car garage.  The first floor is comprised of a living area, family area, 
kitchen, dining room, and one and a half baths.  There is a deck off the kitchen.  The second 
floor includes four bedrooms and two bathrooms.   occupies his former childhood 
bedroom.  Of note, the basement, which reportedly has a boiler room, two storage rooms, 
a bathroom, kitchen, and bedroom was not viewed because there are tenants inhabiting this 
space.  The tenants have a German Shepard.   

47.  was interviewed on November 25, 2020.  She confirmed her son’s personal 
and family data.  She advised that she has limited knowledge about her son’s physical and 
mental health because he declines to discuss it with her.   explained that she is in 
poor physical health, and her son does not talk about his ailments because he does not want 
to cause her to worry.  Indeed,  said that her son has moved into her residence to 
provide full-time care to her.  She is diabetic, has high blood pressure and suffered 
ministrokes.  Consequently, she is unable to drive or tend to her real estate management 
business.   shared that she has bestowed her son with operating the business, 
which includes the management of a building and three homes, all of which are in Queens 
County, New York.  He is not compensated for his work because  has loaned him 
money to pay for his legal fees. 

48.  had limited knowledge about the instant offense, but she imparted that her 
children were raised to abide by the law.  She also conveyed that her son would never 
intentionally do wrong, and he will not reoffend.  In view of all that was discussed during 
the interview, she requested that the Court show leniency when sentencing her son. 

Physical Condition 

49.  advised that he is 5’11” tall, weighs 165 pounds, has brown eyes and black hair.  He 
did not report to have any tattoos or scars. 

50. The defendant stated that he suffers from a variety of medical conditions.  Expressly, he 
said that he has high cholesterol, asthma, gastroesophageal reflux disease, and 
rhinosinusitis, and he is prescribed medication to address said conditions.  As confirmed 
by review of a letter dated August 7, 2019,  is being treated by the World Trade Center 
Health Program for his asthma, gastroesophageal reflux disease and chronic rhinosinusitis.  
A review of  pharmacy list showed that he is prescribed the following:  atorvastatin 
(high cholesterol), albuterol, fluticasone, and Flovent (asthma/sinusitis), and famotidine 
(reflux).  He is also prescribed Chantix, a smoking cessation aid. 

Mental and Emotional Health 

51.  recalled that in 2013 or 2014, he was prescribed Lexapro by his general practitioner 
because he was anxious and depressed about his professional career and his father’s death.  
The defendant reportedly stopped taking the medication after approximately six months. 

52. Following the defendant’s arrest and release for the instant offense, Pretrial Services 
referred  to St. Mark’s Place Institute for Mental Health, Inc., for a psychosocial 
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Monthly Inflows: 

Rental income          $3,750.00 

Total Inflows:                               $3,750.00 

Monthly Outflows: 

Mortgage payment         $1,575.00 

Co-op maintenance fees                                                 $5,211.00 

Groceries             $300.00 

Utilities                          $80.00 

Transportation                                                                   $400.00 

Clothing                                                                      $50.00 

Minimum credit card payments          $100.00 

Average medical expenses                                                $100.00 

Total Outflows:         $7,816.00 

MONTHLY CASH FLOW:      ($4,066.00) 

65. An Equifax report dated November 20, 2020, revealed that the defendant has five active 
accounts (four revolving, one mortgage) with a total balance of $242,028, all of which to 
appear to be in good standing. 

66. During the presentence interview,  recalled last paying his personal income taxes and 
filing a tax return in 2012.4  Prior to the final disclosure of the presentence report, the 
defendant supplied the Probation Office with copies of his prepared tax returns for years 
2015 through 2019.  Only tax years 2017 through 2019 were included below and reflect 
the following:5 

 

 

 

 

 
4 The defendant advised that taxes were filed for  in 2019. 
5 Defense counsel advised that these taxes have not yet been electronically filed.   will file the taxes in January 
2021, when he is able to do so. 
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Year 2017 2018 2019 

Filing Status S S S 

Exemptions 1 1 1 

Adjusted Gross Income $10,869 -$1,784 $20,960 

Taxable Income $0 $0 $0 

Total Tax $0 $0 $0 

Payments $0 $0 $0 

Credits $0 $0 $0 

Amount Owed $0 $0 $0 

 

67. Tax filing information from the IRS was not obtained because as of July 2019, that agency 
no longer honors mailings of requested transcripts to third parties. 

68. We note that  has debt and a negative monthly cash flow, but we also recognize that he 
has assets.  Accordingly, we believe he can pay a minimum fine. 

PART D. SENTENCING OPTIONS 

Custody 

69. Statutory Provisions:  The maximum term of imprisonment is 20 years. 18 U.S.C. § 
1512(c). 

70. Guideline Provisions: Based upon a total offense level of 12 and a criminal history 
category of I, the guideline imprisonment range is 10 to 16 months. Since the applicable 
guideline range is in Zone C of the Sentencing Table, the minimum term may be satisfied 
by (1) a sentence of imprisonment; or (2) a sentence of imprisonment that includes a term 
of supervised release with a condition that substitutes community confinement or home 
detention according to the schedule in subsection (e), provided that at least one-half of the 
minimum term is satisfied by imprisonment. USSG §5C1.1(d). 

Impact of Plea Agreement 

71. Not applicable. 

Supervised Release 

72. Statutory Provisions:  The Court may impose a term of supervised release of not more 
than three years. 18 U.S.C. § 3583(b)(2). 

73. Guideline Provisions:  Since the offense is a Class C Felony, the guideline range for a 
term of supervised release is 1 to 3 years. USSG §5D1.2(a)(2). 

Probation 

74. Statutory Provisions:  The defendant is eligible for not less than one nor more than five 
years’ probation because the offense is a Class C Felony. 18 U.S.C. § 3561(c)(1). One of 
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the following must be imposed as a condition of probation unless extraordinary 
circumstances exist: a fine, restitution, or community service. 

75. Guideline Provisions: Since the applicable guideline range is in Zone C of the Sentencing 
Table, the defendant is ineligible for probation. USSG §5B1.1, comment.(n.2). 

Fines 

76. Statutory Provisions:  The maximum fine is $250,000. 18 U.S.C. § 3571(b). 

77. A special assessment of $100 is mandatory. 18 U.S.C. § 3013. 

78. Guideline Provisions: The fine range for this offense is from $5,500 to $55,000. USSG 
§5E1.2(c)(3). 

79. Costs of prosecution shall be imposed on the defendant as required by statute. USSG 
§5E1.5. In determining whether to impose a fine and the amount of such fine, the Court 
shall consider, among other factors, the expected costs to the government of any term of 
probation, or term of imprisonment and term of supervised release imposed. USSG 
§5E1.2(d)(7) and 18 U.S.C. § 3572(a)(6). These costs may include drug and alcohol 
treatment, electronic monitoring, and/or contract confinement costs. The most recent 
advisory from the Administrative Office of the United States Courts, dated September 9, 
2020, provides the following monthly cost data: 

  Bureau of 
Prisons Facilities 

Community 
Correction Centers 

Supervision by 
Probation Officer 

 Daily $108.00 $109.00 $12.00 
 Monthly $3,280.00 $3,327.00 $372.00 
 Annually $39,365.00 $39,924.00 $4,465.00 

Restitution 

80. Not applicable. 

Forfeiture 

81. As a result of committing the offenses alleged in Counts 1 through 4 of this Indictment, the 
defendant shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981, 21 U.S.C. § 853, 
and 28 U.S.C. § 2461, all property constituting or derived from the proceeds of the offense. 

82. Pursuant to Rule 32.2, “[t]he Court must include the forfeiture when orally announcing the 
sentence or must otherwise ensure that the defendant knows of the forfeiture at sentencing.  
The Court must also include the forfeiture order, directly or by reference, in the judgment.” 

Denial of Federal Benefits 

83. Not applicable. 
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in the altered documents submitted to the auditor, wherein he said that he did not “play any role” 
“in creating that document.”   

The defendant declined to make a statement about his impetus for committing the instant offense.  
One may suppose that he obstructed justice to conceal the underlying fraud. 

This is  first arrest and conviction.  He is under Pretrial Services supervision and has been 
compliant with the terms of his imposed conditions of release, to date.  His compliance with the 
terms of his release indicates that he can be successful under community-based supervision. 

 was reared under favorable circumstances and currently lives with his mother, who is unwell, 
to assist in her care.  The defendant is educated and has a history of legitimate employment.  
Consequently, his involvement in this offense has impeded his ability to continue working in the 
financial industry.  The Probation Office believes that the defendant’s likelihood to reoffend is 
low, and in the future, he will consider his mother’s dependence on him (she has become unwell 
since he was criminally charged), education and employment history to lead a law-abiding life.   

In careful consideration of the defendant’s post-arrest conduct, lack of a criminal history, and 
familial responsibilities, we do not believe a custodial sentence is warranted in this case, and thus, 
we propose a one year term of supervised release with the special condition of 120 hours’ 
community service and a fine of $5,500.  Furthermore, we recognize that  recently completed 
co-occurring therapy, but because he has a history of marijuana use and mental health struggles, 
we recommend the special conditions of outpatient drug and mental health treatment as a 
precautionary measure.  We believe that the combination of the felony conviction, term of 
supervision, community service, and a fine provides just punishment, repays the community for 
his criminal conduct, will promote respect for the law, and this sentence will act as a deterrent and 
a reminder if  should find himself similarly situated again. A $100 special assessment fee is 
mandatory.   

Pursuant to the Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act of 1994, for offenses committed 
after September 13, 1994, the court shall require that all offenders on probation, parole, or 
supervised release submit to one drug test within fifteen days of commencement of probation, 
parole or supervised release and at least two drug tests thereafter for use of a controlled substance, 
unless ameliorated or suspended by the court due to its determination that the defendant poses a 
low risk of future substance abuse as provided in 18 USC 3563 (a) (5) / 3583 (d). 

Drug Risk Analysis 

 admitted to smoking marijuana.  Accordingly, we recommend a condition of outpatient drug 
treatment. 

Recommendation 

We respectfully recommend that Your Honor impose a sentence of Time Served to be followed 
by one-year supervised release to include 120 hours’ community service. 
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Mandatory Conditions 

A period of supervised release is ordered, and the following conditions are mandatory: 
 
 You must not commit another federal, state, or local crime. 
 
 You must not unlawfully possess a controlled substance. 
 
 You must refrain from any unlawful use of a controlled substance. You must submit to 
 one drug test within 15 days of release from imprisonment and at least two periodic drug 
 tests thereafter, as determined by the court. 
 

        ☐ The above drug testing condition is suspended, based on the court's   

  determination that you pose a low risk of future substance abuse. 
 
You must cooperate in the collection of DNA, as directed by the probation officer. 

You must comply with the standard conditions that have been adopted by this court as well as 
with any other conditions on the attached page. 

Standard Conditions 

1. You must report to the probation office in the federal judicial district where you are 
 authorized to reside within 72 hours of your release from imprisonment, unless the 
 probation officer instructs you to report to a different probation office or within a 
 different time  frame. 
  
2. After initially reporting to the probation office, you will receive instructions from the 
 court or the probation officer about how and when you must report to the probation 
 officer, and you must report to the probation officer as instructed. 
 
3. You must not knowingly leave the federal judicial district where you are authorized to 
 reside without first getting permission from the court or the probation officer. 
 
4. You must answer truthfully the questions asked by your probation officer. 
 
5. You must live at a place approved by the probation officer. If you plan to change where 
 you live or anything about your living arrangements (such as the people you live with), 
 you must notify the probation officer at least 10 days before the change. If notifying the 
 probation officer in advance is not possible due to unanticipated circumstances, you must 
 notify the probation officer within 72 hours of becoming aware of a change or expected 
 change.  
 
6.  You must allow the probation officer to visit you at any time at your home or elsewhere, 
 and you must permit the probation officer to take any items prohibited by the conditions 
 of your supervision that he or she observes in plain view. 
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7. You must work full time (at least 30 hours per week) at a lawful type of employment, 
 unless the probation officer excuses you from doing so. If you do not have full-time 
 employment you must try to find full-time employment, unless the probation officer 
 excuses you from doing so. If you plan to change where you work or anything about 
 your work (such as your position or your job responsibilities), you must notify the 
 probation officer at least 10 days before the change. If notifying the probation officer at 
 least 10 days in advance is not possible due to unanticipated circumstances, you must 
 notify the probation officer within 72 hours of becoming aware of a change or expected 
 change. 
 
8. You must not communicate or interact with someone you know is engaged in criminal 
 activity. If you know someone has been convicted of a felony, you must not knowingly 
 communicate or interact with that person without first getting the permission of the 
 probation officer. 
 
9. If you are arrested or questioned by a law enforcement officer, you must notify the 
 probation officer within 72 hours. 
 
10. You must not own, possess, or have access to a firearm, ammunition, destructive device, 
 or dangerous weapon (i.e., anything that was designed, or was modified for, the specific 
 purpose of causing bodily injury or death to another person such as nunchakus or tasers). 
 
11. You must not act or make any agreement with a law enforcement agency to act as a 
 confidential human source or informant without first getting the permission of the court. 
 
12. You must follow the instructions of the probation officer related to the conditions of 
 supervision. 
 
Special Conditions  

You will participate in an outpatient treatment program approved by the United States 
Probation Office, which program may include testing to determine whether you have 
reverted to using drugs or alcohol. You must contribute to the cost of services rendered 
based on your ability to pay and the availability of third-party payments. The Court 
authorizes the release of available drug treatment evaluations and reports, including the 
presentence investigation report, to the substance abuse treatment provider. 

You must participate in an outpatient mental health treatment program approved by the 
United States Probation Office. You must continue to take any prescribed medications 
unless otherwise instructed by the health care provider. You must contribute to the cost of 
services rendered based on your ability to pay and the availability of third-party payments. 
The Court authorizes the release of available psychological and psychiatric evaluations and 
reports, including the presentence investigation report, to the health care provider. 

You must perform 120 hours’ community service to be approved by the Probation Officer. 
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